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Dividends
Cash dividends, declared	 $	 4,304,905	 $	 4,358,756	
Dividends per share, declared		 12.00		 12.00

At year end December 31,
Total assets	 $	 435,416,573	 $	 437,725,414
 Investment securities

Debt securities, available for sale		 92,876,173		 118,446,027
		 Equity securities		 34,135,815		 31,569,430
Loans receivable, net		 287,602,754		 271,597,285
Deposits		  330,716,432		  321,490,075

	 Shareholders’ equity		  88,833,326		  85,526,450

Book value per share		 248.46		 235.46

For the year ended December 31,	
Net interest income		 $    13,894,420 		$    15,461,572
Net income		  5,585,932 3,802,787
Earnings per share		 15.54		 10.47

Financial ratios for the year ended December 31,	
Return on average shareholders' equity		 6.41% 4.50%
Return on average assets		 1.28% 0.86%

Trust fund assets, market value	 $	 104,454,602	 $	 100,104,938

HAMLIN BANK AND TRUST COMPANY 
333 West Main Street 
Smethport, PA 16749 

(814) 887-5555

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

2024 2023



TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS, 

We are pleased to report a successful 2024 for Hamlin Bank with strong net income for the year ended  
December 31, 2024, of $5.6 million, or $15.54 per share, while maintaining robust capital and a sound 
liquidity position.  These factors enable us to continue to reward our shareholders with our long-standing 
semi-annual dividend.  During 2024, dividends declared and paid to shareholders were $12.00 per share, 
consistent with 2023.

Although margin compression continued to challenge the industry, Hamlin Bank’s core focus on serving  
their customers and communities needs, along with prudent balance sheet strategy, has provided the Bank 
with a strong foundation to succeed through these challenges.

Financial results
Net income grew 46.9% over prior year to $5.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, from $3.8 
million for the year ended December 31, 2023, resulting in earnings per share of $15.54 for the year ended  
December 31, 2024, compared to $10.47 in the prior year.  Challenges in margin compression continued  
in 2024, shrinking net interest income by $1.6 million, or 10.1%, to $13.9 million for the year ended  
December 31, 2024.

Helping to offset the margin compression experienced in 2024, noninterest income increased $4.4 million 
over prior year to $4.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to $225,000 for the year 
ended December 31, 2023.  This increase was due to positive changes in the equity markets during 2024 
which resulted in a $3.3 million benefit for the year ended December 31, 2024, as our equity securities 
portiolio’s fair value improved during the year.

Total assets were $435.4 million at December 31, 2024, a slight decrease over prior year of $2.3 million. 
This decrease in total assets was primarily due to the decrease in investment securities of $25.6 million to 
$92.9 million at December 31, 2024. During the first quarter of 2024, the Bank strategically sold a total of 
$17.0 million of available-for-sale debt securities and equity securities to redeploy the assets into higher 
yielding loans and effectively reducing our borrowing needs.  In addition, calls and maturities of $9.8  
million further reduced the investment securities balance slightly offset by an increase in the fair value of 
equity securities.

The bank had strong loan growth of $15.9 million, or 5.8%, to $290.9 million at December 31, 2024 from 
$275.1 million at December 31, 2023.  This growth was primarily in the mortgage loan portiolios and was  
achieved while maintaining strong credit quality standards.  Net charge-offs remain low at 0.21% of  
average gross loans at December 31, 2024 compared to 0.19% at December 31, 2023.



Total deposits grew $9.2 million over the prior year to $330.7 million at December 31, 2024.  This growth 
occurred within our time deposits as the bank competitively priced this product in 2024.  New money, as 
well as a shift from other deposit categories, expanded our time deposits to $81.9 million at December  
31, 2024, an increase of $23.4 million over prior year.

Hamlin Bank’s community bank leverage ratio remained well above the “well capitalized” standards  
determined by bank regulators of 5.00%, with the Bank’s ratio at 21.24% at December 31, 2024.  This 
leverage ratio reflects a very strong capital position and the Bank’s commitment to maintain a safe and 
sound financial institution while providing effective capital management.

Expanded footprint
At the beginning of 2024, we welcomed the Elk County community as we opened a new branch in  
St. Marys, Pennsylvania.  This office broadens our footprint and enables us to extend our community bank 
product and services to a new market and new customers.  We are excited at the initial customer response 
and look forward to continuing to serve and grow with Elk County.

During the fourth quarter of 2024, the bank initiated the process of entering a new community in Sheffield, 
PA. Construction is underway and we anticipate this new branch opening in the early part of 2025.  The 
Hamlin Bank team is eager to expand our footprint into Warren County and are excited to serve this new 
market into the future.

Looking forward
The success of Hamlin Bank is a direct result of our dedicated employees.  We are deeply grateful for their  
commitment and passion to serve our growing customer base and communities.  Our focus remains steadfast 
on being the hometown bank that our communities take pride in doing business with.  We look forward to 
continuing that tradition with our existing, loyal communities and expanding that same exceptional service 
to our new market in 2025.

We invite our shareholders to visit or telephone with questions regarding your investment in Hamlin Bank 
and Trust Company and we thank you for your continued support.

Sincerely,

Jeffery A.Wilson 
President and Chief Executive Officer

Martin J. Digel 
Executive Chairman
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

Board of Directors and Shareholders 
Hamlin Bank and Trust Company 
Smethport, Pennsylvania 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Hamlin Bank and Trust 
Company and its subsidiary (the “Bank”), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial 
condition as of December 31, 2024 and 2023; the related consolidated statements of income, 
comprehensive income, changes in shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended; and 
the related notes to the consolidated financial statements (collectively, the financial statements). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Bank as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and 
cash flows for the years then ended, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America. 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America (GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be 
independent of the Bank and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant 
ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions 
or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Bank’s ability to continue 
as a going concern within one year after the date that the financial statements are issued or available to 
be issued.  
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance 
and, therefore, is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material 
if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the 
judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is
expressed.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate,
that raise substantial doubt about the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern for a
reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related 
matters that we identified during the audit. 

Other Information Included in Annual Report 

Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual report. The other 
information comprises the Financial Highlights and President’s Message but does not include the 
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not 
cover the other information, and we do not express an opinion or any form of assurance thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and the 
financial statements, or whether the other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, 
based on the work performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other 
information exists, we are required to describe it in our report. 

Cranberry Township, Pennsylvania 
March 7, 2025  
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2024 2023
ASSETS 

Cash and due from banks $ 6,414,862      $ 5,456,041     
Investment securities available for sale 92,876,173    118,446,027 
(amortized cost of $99,435,557 and $125,862,833, respectively) 

Equity securities, at fair value 34,135,815    31,569,430   
Loans receivable  290,947,098  275,063,749 
Less allowance for credit losses  (3,344,344)    (3,466,464)    

    Loans receivable, net  287,602,754  271,597,285 
Premises and equipment, net  7,076,032      6,330,705     
Accrued interest and other assets  3,448,504      3,826,082     
Other real estate owned 196,278        204,111        
Prepaid defined benefits plans 3,666,155      295,733        

    TOTAL ASSETS $ 435,416,573  $ 437,725,414 

LIABILITIES 
Deposits: 

Noninterest-bearing demand $ 73,234,064    $ 76,430,883   
Interest-bearing demand  36,411,262    42,315,535   
Money market  38,876,141    38,186,450   
Savings  100,289,876  106,078,427 
Time  81,905,089    58,478,780   
    Total deposits  330,716,432  321,490,075 

Short-term borrowings 6,000,000      23,000,000   
Deferred tax liabilities 4,047,422      2,463,843     
Accrued interest and other liabilities  5,819,393      5,245,046     

    TOTAL LIABILITIES  346,583,247  352,198,964 

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
Common stock, par value $2.50; 371,814 and 377,511 shares 
  authorized and issued, 357,533 and 363,230 shares outstanding at  
  December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively 929,535        943,778        
Additional paid-in capital  7,266,285      8,313,322     
Retained earnings  85,199,873    83,918,846   
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (4,493,146)    (7,580,275)    
Treasury stock (14,281 shares, at cost) (69,221)         (69,221)        

    TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  88,833,326    85,526,450   

    TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY $ 435,416,573  $ 437,725,414 

HAMLIN BANK AND TRUST COMPANY 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

December 31, 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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2024 2023
INTEREST AND DIVIDEND INCOME 
 Interest and fees on loans $ 15,164,006     $ 13,192,816     

Interest-bearing deposits in other institutions 144,901          293,174          
Investment securities: 
 Taxable interest 2,527,364       2,954,401       

Tax-exempt interest 441,404          495,907          
Dividends 1,307,829       1,346,466       
        Total interest and dividend income 19,585,504     18,282,764     

INTEREST EXPENSE 
Deposits 4,956,249       2,390,731       
Short-term borrowings 720,474          415,836          
Financing lease 14,361            14,625            

        Total interest expense 5,691,084       2,821,192       

NET INTEREST INCOME 13,894,420     15,461,572     

Provision for credit losses 475,000          450,000          

NET INTEREST INCOME AFTER  
   PROVISION FOR CREDIT LOSSES 13,419,420     15,011,572     

NONINTEREST INCOME 
Trust fee income 407,080          351,799          
Service charges on deposits 422,271          429,845          
Losses on sales of debt securities (897,987)         -                  
Gains on sales of equity securities 809,167          -                  
Change in fair value of equity securities 3,275,502       (1,099,320)      
Debit card fees 515,760          500,832          
Other income 60,558            41,971            

        Total noninterest income 4,592,351       225,127          

NONINTEREST EXPENSE 
Salaries and employee benefits 5,772,436       5,393,936       
Net occupancy  619,977          496,792          
Equipment and data processing  955,387          1,016,322       
Federal deposit insurance 169,062          171,907          
Losses/(gains) on real estate owned 75,130            (8,560)             
Shares tax 573,523          583,795          
Other expense 3,053,110       3,012,136       

        Total noninterest expense 11,218,625     10,666,328     

Income before income taxes  6,793,146       4,570,371       
Income tax expense 1,207,214       767,584          

NET INCOME $ 5,585,932       $ 3,802,787       

EARNINGS PER SHARE $ 15.54              $ 10.47              

WEIGHTED-AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING 359,408          363,317          

HAMLIN BANK AND TRUST COMPANY 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME 

Year Ended December 31, 

 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.



 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
5 

2024 2023

Net income $ 5,585,932       $ 3,802,787       
Other comprehensive income: 

Unrealized gain on available for sale securities 857,422          2,686,309       
Income tax effect (180,059)         (564,126)         
Change in unrecognized pension costs 3,050,336       919,895          
Income tax effect (640,570)         (193,178)         

Other comprehensive income, net of tax 3,087,129       2,848,900       

Comprehensive income $ 8,673,061       $ 6,651,687       

HAMLIN BANK AND TRUST COMPANY 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

Year Ended December 31, 

 
  

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Accumulated 
Other 

Common Additional Retained Comprehensive Treasury 
Stock Paid-in Capital Earnings Loss Stock Total 

Balance, December 31, 2022 $ 944,913  $ 8,410,247    $ 84,474,815  $ (10,429,175)  $ (69,221)     $ 83,331,579  

Net income -         -             3,802,787    -               -           3,802,787    
Other comprehensive income -         -             -              2,848,900     -           2,848,900    
Retirement of common stock

(454 shares) (1,135)    (96,925)       -              -               -           (98,060)       
Cash dividends declared 
   ($12.00 per share) -         -             (4,358,756)   -               -           (4,358,756)   

Balance, December 31, 2023 $ 943,778  $ 8,313,322    $ 83,918,846  $ (7,580,275)    $ (69,221)     $ 85,526,450  

Net income -         -             5,585,932    -               -           5,585,932    
Other comprehensive income -         -             -              3,087,129     -           3,087,129    
Retirement of common stock

(5,697 shares) (14,243)  (1,047,037)  -              -               -           (1,061,280)   
Cash dividends declared 
   ($12.00 per share) -         -             (4,304,905)   -               -           (4,304,905)   

Balance, December 31, 2024 $ 929,535  $ 7,266,285    $ 85,199,873  $ (4,493,146)    $ (69,221)     $ 88,833,326  

HAMLIN BANK AND TRUST COMPANY 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
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Accumulated 
Other 

Common Additional Retained Comprehensive Treasury 
Stock Paid-in Capital Earnings Loss Stock Total 

Balance, December 31, 2022 $ 944,913  $ 8,410,247    $ 84,474,815  $ (10,429,175)  $ (69,221)     $ 83,331,579  

Net income -         -             3,802,787    -               -           3,802,787    
Other comprehensive income -         -             -              2,848,900     -           2,848,900    
Retirement of common stock

(454 shares) (1,135)    (96,925)       -              -               -           (98,060)       
Cash dividends declared 
   ($12.00 per share) -         -             (4,358,756)   -               -           (4,358,756)   

Balance, December 31, 2023 $ 943,778  $ 8,313,322    $ 83,918,846  $ (7,580,275)    $ (69,221)     $ 85,526,450  

Net income -         -             5,585,932    -               -           5,585,932    
Other comprehensive income -         -             -              3,087,129     -           3,087,129    
Retirement of common stock

(5,697 shares) (14,243)  (1,047,037)  -              -               -           (1,061,280)   
Cash dividends declared 
   ($12.00 per share) -         -             (4,304,905)   -               -           (4,304,905)   

Balance, December 31, 2024 $ 929,535  $ 7,266,285    $ 85,199,873  $ (4,493,146)    $ (69,221)     $ 88,833,326  

HAMLIN BANK AND TRUST COMPANY 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
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2024 2023
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

Net income $ 5,585,932               $ 3,802,787              
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided 
  by operating activities: 

Depreciation and amortization, net 335,030                185,230                
Net (accretion) amortization on debt securities (406,109)               (358,754)               
Amortization of deferred loan costs, net 97,453                  97,617                  
Equity securities (gains) losses (3,275,502)             1,099,320              
Gains on sale of equity securities (809,167)               -                       
Losses on sale of debt securities 897,987                -                       
Provision for credit losses 475,000                450,000                
Change in deferred income taxes  762,948                (253,989)               
Losses (gains) on sale of real estate owned 21,009                  (23,645)                 
Writedowns on real estate owned, net 49,242                  15,085                  
Increase (decrease) in accrued interest receivable 28,506                  (39,819)                 
Increase in accrued interest payable 483,565                502,243                
Other, net (411,021)               (100,607)               

    Net cash provided by operating activities 3,834,873              5,375,468              

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Investment securities available for sale: 

Proceeds from sales of securities 16,101,190            -                       
Proceeds from maturities and calls 9,834,208              11,924,455            
Purchases -                       (950,620)               

Proceeds from sale of equity securities 1,518,284              -                       
Increase in loans, net (16,679,596)           (21,433,351)           
Acquisitions of premises and equipment (1,092,201)             (2,931,955)             
Proceeds from the sale of real estate owned 39,256                  514,667                
Purchase of regulatory stock (2,380,000)             (2,020,000)             
Redemption of regulatory stock 2,968,100              1,020,000              

    Net cash provided by (used for) investing activities 10,309,241            (13,876,804)           

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Increase (decrease) in deposits, net 9,226,357              (32,366,061)           
(Decrease) increase in short-term borrowings, net (17,000,000)           23,000,000            
Retirement of common stock (1,061,280)             (98,060)                 
Finance lease payments (11,283)                 (11,019)                 
Cash dividends paid (4,339,087)             (4,361,480)             

   Net cash used for financing activities (13,185,293)           (13,836,620)           
   Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 958,821                (22,337,956)           

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 5,456,041              27,793,997            

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR $ 6,414,862               $ 5,456,041              

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION: 
Cash paid during the year for: 

Interest $ 5,207,519               $ 2,318,949              
Income taxes 1,207,214              769,408                

Noncash investing transactions: 
Real estate loans transferred to real estate owned $ 676,345                $ 606,387                

HAMLIN BANK AND TRUST COMPANY 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

Year Ended December 31, 

 
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Basis of Presentation 
 
Hamlin Bank and Trust Company (the “Bank”) is a state-chartered bank located in Smethport, Pennsylvania. 
The Bank’s principal sources of revenue emanate from its portfolio of residential real estate, commercial 
mortgage, commercial, and consumer loans, as well as interest on investment securities and a variety of deposit 
and trust services provided to its customers through seven locations. The Bank is supervised by the Federal 
Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) and the Pennsylvania Department of Banking. 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Bank include the accounts of the wholly owned subsidiary, Hamlin 
Corporation. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The investment 
in subsidiary on the Bank’s financial statements is carried at the Bank’s equity in the underlying net assets of the 
subsidiary. 
 
The U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) followed by the Bank and the methods of applying 
these principles conform to U.S. generally accepted accounting principles and to general practice within the 
banking industry. In preparing the financial statements, management is required to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the balance sheet date and reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses for the period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
Investment Securities 
 
The Bank has classified debt securities as available for sale to serve principally as a source of liquidity. 
Investment securities are recorded at fair value, with unrealized holding gains and losses reported as a separate 
component of shareholders’ equity, net of tax, until realized. Realized securities gains and losses are computed 
using the specific identification method for debt securities and by the average cost method for marketable equity 
securities. Interest and dividends on investment securities are recognized as income when earned. Premiums and 
discounts are recognized in interest income using the interest method over the period to maturity. 
 
Allowance for Credit Losses – Available for Sale Securities 
 
For available for sale securities in an unrealized loss position, the Bank first assesses whether it intends to sell, 
or it is more likely than not that it will be required to sell the security before recovery of its amortized cost basis. 
If either of the criteria regarding intent or requirement to sell is met, the security's amortized cost basis is written 
down to fair value through income. 
 
For available for sale debt securities that do not meet the aforementioned criteria, the Bank evaluates whether 
the decline in fair value has resulted from credit losses or other factors. In making this assessment, the Bank 
considers the extent to which fair value is less than amortized cost, any changes to the rating of the security by 
a rating agency, and adverse conditions specifically related to the security, among other factors. If this evaluation 
indicates that a credit loss exists, the present value of cash flows expected to be collected from the security are 
compared to the amortized cost basis of the security. If the present value of cash flows expected to be collected 
is less than the amortized cost basis, a credit loss exists and an allowance for credit losses (“ACL”) is recorded 
for the credit loss, equal to the amount that the fair value is less than the amortized cost basis. Any impairment 
that has not been recorded through an allowance for credit losses is recognized in other comprehensive income.  
 
The ACL on available for sale debt securities is included within investment securities available for sale on the 
Consolidated Balance Sheet. Changes in the ACL are recorded within the provision for credit losses on the 
Consolidated Statement of Income. Losses are charged against the allowance when the Bank believes the 
collectability of an available for sale security is in jeopardy or when either of the criteria regarding intent or 
requirement to sell is met.  
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Allowance for Credit Losses – Available for Sale Securities (Continued) 
 
Accrued interest receivable on available for sale debt securities totaled $618,377 and $732,755 at December 31, 
2024 and 2023, respectively, and is included within accrued interest and other assets on the Consolidated 
Statements of Financial Condition. This amount is excluded from the estimate of expected credit losses. 
Available for sale debt securities are typically classified as nonaccrual when the contractual payment of principal 
or interest has become 90 days past due or management has serious doubts about the further collectability of 
principal or interest. When available-for-sale debt securities are placed on nonaccrual status, unpaid interest 
credited to income is reversed. 
 
Equity Securities 
 
Equity securities are held at fair value. Holding gains and losses are recorded in income. Dividends are 
recognized as income when earned. 
 
Federal Home Loan Bank Stock 
 
The Bank is a member of the Federal Home Loan Bank (“FHLB”) of Pittsburgh and, as such, is required to 
maintain a minimum investment in stock of the FHLB that varies with the level of advances outstanding with 
the FHLB. The stock is bought from and sold to the FHLB based upon its $100 par value. The stock does not 
have a readily determinable fair value and, as such, is classified as restricted stock, carried at cost and evaluated 
for impairment, as necessary. The stock’s value is determined by the ultimate recoverability of the par value 
rather than by recognizing temporary declines. The determination of whether the par value will ultimately be 
recovered is influenced by criteria such as the following: (a) the significance of the decline in net assets of the 
FHLB as compared to the capital stock amount and the length of time this situation has persisted, (b) 
commitments by the FHLB to make payments required by law or regulation and the level of such payments in 
relation to the operating performance, (c) the impact of legislative and regulatory changes on the customer base 
of the FHLB, and (d) the liquidity position of the FHLB. 
 
Management evaluated the stock and concluded that the stock was not impaired for the periods presented herein. 
Management considered that the FHLB maintains regulatory capital ratios in excess of all regulatory capital 
requirements, liquidity appears adequate, and new shares of FHLB stock continue to change hands at the $100 
par value and at the resumption of dividends. 
 
Loans 
 
Loans that management has the intent and ability to hold for the foreseeable future or until maturity or payoff 
are generally reported at their principal amount net of unearned income and the allowance for credit losses. 
Interest on all loans is recognized as income when earned on the accrual method. The Bank’s general policy is 
to stop accruing interest on loans when it is determined that reasonable doubt exists as to the collectability of 
additional interest. Payments received on nonaccrual loans are recorded as income or applied against principal 
according to management’s judgment as to the collectability of principal. Generally, loans are restored to accrual 
status when the obligation is brought current, has performed in accordance with the contractual terms for a 
reasonable period of time, and the ultimate collectability of the total contractual principal and interest is no longer 
in doubt. 
 
Loan origination fees and certain direct loan origination costs are being deferred and the net amount is amortized 
as an adjustment of the related loan’s yield, based on the interest method. The Bank is amortizing these amounts 
over the contractual life of the related loans. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Allowance for Credit Losses 
 
The ACL is a valuation reserve established and maintained by charges against income and is deducted from the 
amortized cost basis of loans to present the net amount expected to be collected on the loans. Loans, or portions 
thereof, are charged off against the ACL when they are deemed uncollectible. Expected recoveries do not exceed 
the aggregate of amounts previously charged off and expected to be charged off. 
 
The ACL is an estimate of expected credit losses, measured over the contractual life of a loan, that considers our 
historical loss experience, current conditions, and forecasts of future economic conditions. Determination of an 
appropriate ACL is inherently subjective and may have significant changes from period to period. 
 
The methodology for determining the ACL has two main components: evaluation of expected credit losses for 
certain groups of homogeneous loans that share similar risk characteristics and evaluation of loans that do not 
share risk characteristics with other loans. 
 
The ACL is measured on a collective pool basis when similar risk characteristics exist. The Bank has identified 
the following portfolio segments and measures the allowance for credit losses using the following methods: 
residential real estate, commercial real estate, construction real estate, commercial and industrial, and consumer. 
These segments are analyzed in smaller cohort groupings based on similar risk characteristics. 
 
Historical credit loss experience is the basis for the estimation of expected credit losses. We apply historical loss 
rates to pools of loans with similar risk characteristics. After consideration of the historic loss calculation, 
management applies qualitative adjustments to reflect the current conditions and reasonable and supportable 
forecasts not already reflected in the historical loss information at the balance sheet date. Our reasonable and 
supportable forecast adjustment is based on the unemployment forecast and management judgment. For periods 
beyond our reasonable and supportable forecast, we revert to historical loss rates utilizing a straight-line method 
over a one-year reversion period. The qualitative adjustments for current conditions are based upon changes in 
lending policies and practices, experience and ability of lending staff, quality of the Bank’s loan review system, 
value of underlying collateral, the existence of and changes in concentrations and other external factors. These 
modified historical loss rates are multiplied by the outstanding principal balance of each loan to calculate a 
required reserve. 
 
Accrued interest receivable on loans totaled $798,776 and $712,904 at December 31, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively, and is included within accrued interest and other assets on the Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Condition. 
 
The Bank has elected to exclude accrued interest receivable from the measurement of its ACL. When a loan is 
placed on nonaccrual status, any outstanding accrued interest is reversed against interest income. 
 
A loan is considered collateral-dependent when the debtor is experiencing financial difficulty and repayment is 
expected to be provided substantially through the sale or operation of the collateral. For all classes of loans 
deemed collateral-dependent, the Bank elected the practical expedient to estimate expected credit losses based 
on the collateral’s fair value less cost to sell. Substantially all of the collateral consists of various types of 
business assets or real estate. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Allowance for Credit Losses (Continued) 
 
The ACL for individual loans begins with the use of normal credit review procedures to identify whether a loan 
no longer shares similar risk characteristics with other pooled loans and, therefore, should be individually 
assessed. We evaluate all commercial and industrial and commercial real estate loans, as well as residential and 
installment loans that meet the following criteria: 1) when it is determined that foreclosure is probable,  
2) substandard, doubtful and nonperforming loans when repayment is expected to be provided substantially 
through the operation or sale of the collateral, and 3) when it is determined by management that a loan does not 
share similar risk characteristics with other loans. Specific reserves are established based on the fair value of the 
collateral when the loan is collateral dependent. Our individual loan evaluations consist primarily of the fair 
value of collateral method because most of our loans are collateral dependent. Collateral values are discounted 
to consider disposition costs when appropriate. A specific reserve is established or a charge-off is taken if the 
fair value of the loan is less than the loan balance. 
 
Premises and Equipment 
 
Land is carried at cost. Premises and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation 
is computed on the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which range from 3 to 20 
years for furniture, fixtures, and equipment, and 10 to 40 years for buildings. Expenditures for maintenance and 
repairs are charged against income, as incurred. Costs of major additions and improvements are capitalized. 
 
Real Estate Owned 
 
Real estate owned acquired in settlement of foreclosed loans is carried as a component of other assets at the 
lower of cost or fair value less estimated cost to sell. Direct costs incurred in the foreclosure process and 
subsequent holding costs incurred on such properties are recorded as expenses of current operations. 
 
As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Bank had $196,278 and $204,111, respectively, of foreclosed residential 
real estate property obtained by physical possession, which is recorded as a component of other assets on the 
Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition. As of December 31, 2024, the Bank had $955,238 of loans 
secured by residential real estate properties, for which foreclosure proceedings are in process, according to local 
jurisdictions. 
 
Trust Department 
 
Trust Department assets (other than cash deposits) held by the Bank in fiduciary or agency capacities for its 
customers are not included in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition, since such 
items are not assets of the Bank. 
 
Pension Plan and Other Post-Retirement Plans 
 
The Bank maintains a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan covering substantially all employees. The 
plan calls for benefits to be paid to eligible employees at retirement based primarily upon years of service with 
the Bank and compensation rates near retirement. 
 
The Bank also maintains a noncontributory defined benefit post-retirement plan covering all employees. The 
plan provides a level of life insurance coverage to retirees that is based upon their annual compensation prior to 
retirement. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Income Taxes 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are reflected at currently enacted income tax rates, applicable to the period in 
which the deferred tax assets or liabilities are expected to be realized or settled. As changes in tax laws or rates 
are enacted, deferred tax assets and liabilities are adjusted through the provision for income taxes. 
 
Comprehensive Income 
 
The Bank is required to present comprehensive income in a full set of general-purpose financial statements for 
all periods presented. Other comprehensive income is composed of unrealized holding gains and losses on the 
available for sale securities portfolio and change in unrecognized pension costs.    
 
Cash Equivalents 
 
For purposes of the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash and due 
from banks. 
 
Earnings Per Share 
 
The Bank currently maintains a simple capital structure; therefore, there are no dilutive effects on earnings per 
share. As such, earnings per share are calculated by dividing net income by the weighted-average number of 
shares of stock outstanding during the year. 
 
Reclassification of Comparative Amounts 
 
Certain comparative amounts for the prior year have been reclassified to conform to current-year classifications. 
Such reclassifications had no effect on net income or shareholders’ equity. 
 

2. REVENUE RECOGNITION 
 
The Bank has several products and services for which it recognized revenues in accordance with Accounting 
Standards Update No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606). Topic 606 does not apply 
to revenue associated with financial instruments, including revenue from loans and securities. Topic 606 is 
applicable to noninterest revenue streams, such as trust income, deposit-related fees, interchange fees, and 
merchant income. However, the recognition of these revenue streams did not change significantly upon adoption 
of Topic 606. Noninterest revenue streams in scope of Topic 606 are discussed below. 
 
Trust Department Fees 
 
Trust and asset management income is primarily comprised of fees earned from the management and 
administration of trusts and other customer assets. The Bank’s performance obligation is generally satisfied over 
time, and the resulting annual fees are based on the market value of assets held in the account as valued at the 
end of each quarter. Payment is generally received within a few days after the end of the quarter via a debit from 
the customers’ accounts. The Bank does not earn performance-based incentives. Additional services, including, 
but not limited to, additional accountings and supervision of personal affairs for the elderly may be provided on 
a case-by-case basis. The Bank’s performance obligation for these transactional-based services is generally 
satisfied, and related revenue recognized, at a point in time (i.e., as incurred). Payment is received shortly after 
services are rendered. 
 
  



HAMLIN BANK AND TRUST COMPANY 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

13 

2. REVENUE RECOGNITION (Continued) 
 
Service Charges 
 
Service charges on deposit accounts consist of overdraft charges, monthly service fees, check orders, and other 
deposit account-related fees. The Bank’s performance obligation for monthly service fees is generally satisfied, 
and the related revenue recognized, over the period in which the service is provided. Check orders and other 
deposit account-related fees are largely transactional-based, and, therefore, the Bank’s performance obligation 
is satisfied, and related revenue recognized, at a point in time. Payment for service charges on deposit accounts 
is primarily received immediately or in the following month through a direct charge to customers’ accounts. 
 
Debit Card Network Fees 
 
The Bank earns interchange fees from debit cardholder transactions conducted primarily through the Mastercard 
payment network. Interchange fees from cardholder transactions represent a percentage of the underlying 
transaction value and are recognized daily, net of card network fees, concurrently with the transaction processing 
services provided to the cardholder. 
 
Gain on Sale of Other Real Estate Owned (“OREO”) 
 
The Bank records a gain or loss from the sale of OREO when control of the property transfers to the buyer, 
which generally occurs at the time of delivery of an executed deed. When the Bank finances the sale of OREO 
to the buyer, management assesses whether the buyer is committed to perform the buyer’s obligation under the 
contract and whether collectability of the transaction price is probable. Once these criteria are met, the OREO 
asset is derecognized and the gain or loss on the sale is recorded upon the transfer of control of the property to 
the buyer. In determining the gain or loss on the sale, the Bank adjusts the transaction price and related gain on 
sale if a significant financing component is present.  
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3. INVESTMENT SECURITIES AVAILABLE FOR SALE 
 
Debt Securities Available for Sale 
 
The amortized cost, gross unrealized gains and losses, and fair values of investment securities available for sale 
are as follows at December 31: 
 

Gross Gross Allowance
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized for Credit Fair

Cost Gains Losses Losses Value

U.S. government agencies $ 48,712,483   $ -              $ (3,622,452)    $ -              $ 45,090,031   
Obligations of states and 
  political subdivisions 17,920,708   8                 (1,772,876)    -              16,147,840   
Corporate securities 32,802,366   40,177         (1,204,241)    -              31,638,302   

Total    $ 99,435,557   $ 40,185         $ (6,599,569)    $ -              $ 92,876,173   

Gross Gross Allowance
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized for Credit Fair

Cost Gains Losses Losses Value

U.S. government agencies $ 69,057,285   $ 12,843         $ (4,750,786)    $ -              $ 64,319,342   
Obligations of states and 
  political subdivisions 20,367,751   6,126 (1,664,567)    -              18,709,310   
Corporate securities 36,437,797   93,932         (1,114,354)    -              35,417,375   

Total    $ 125,862,833 $ 112,901        $ (7,529,707)    $ -              $ 118,446,027 

2024

2023
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3. INVESTMENT SECURITIES AVAILABLE FOR SALE (Continued) 
 
The following tables show the Bank’s gross unrealized losses and fair values, aggregated by investment category 
and length of time that the individual securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position, at  
December 31. 

Gross Gross Gross
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized

Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses

U.S. government agencies$ 3,584,342   $ (47,424)     $ 41,505,689    $ (3,575,028)  $ 45,090,031   $ (3,622,452)  
Obligations of states and 
  political subdivisions 1,745,552   (15,904)     14,202,280    (1,756,972)  15,947,832   (1,772,876)  
Corporate securities 7,131,876   (109,698)   20,183,169    (1,094,543)  27,315,045   (1,204,241)  

Total $ 12,461,770 $ (173,026)   $ 75,891,138    $ (6,426,543)  $ 88,352,908   $ (6,599,569)  

Gross Gross Gross
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized

Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses

U.S. government agencies$ -             $ -           $ 62,525,848    $ (4,750,786)  $ 62,525,848   $ (4,750,786)  
Obligations of states and 
  political subdivisions 976,864      (3,137)       16,026,322    (1,661,430)  17,003,186   (1,664,567)  
Corporate securities 505,262      (9,606)       27,701,644    (1,104,748)  28,206,906   (1,114,354)  

Total $ 1,482,126   $ (12,743)     $ 106,253,814  $ (7,516,964)  $ 107,735,940 $ (7,529,707)  

Less Than Twelve Months Twelve Months or Greater Total

2024
Less Than Twelve Months Twelve Months or Greater Total

2023

 
 
At December 31, 2024, the Bank had 23 available for sale securities that have been in a gross unrealized loss 
position for less than 12 months with depreciation of 1.4 percent from the Bank’s amortized cost basis. At 
December 31, 2024, the Bank had 120 available for sale securities that have been in a gross unrealized loss 
position for greater than 12 months with depreciation of 7.8 percent from the Bank’s amortized cost basis. The 
gross unrealized loss positions were primarily related to securities issued by U.S. government agencies or U.S. 
government-sponsored enterprises. These securities carry the explicit and/or implicit guarantee of the U.S. 
Government, are widely recognized as “risk free,” and have a long history of zero credit loss. Total gross 
unrealized losses were primarily attributable to changes in interest rates, relative to when the investment 
securities were purchased, and not due to the credit quality of the investment securities. The Bank does not intend 
to sell the investment securities that were in an unrealized loss position, and it is not more likely than not that 
the Bank will be required to sell the investment securities before recovery of their amortized cost basis, which 
may be at maturity. Therefore, as of December 31, 2024, no ACL was required for available for sale securities. 
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3. INVESTMENT SECURITIES AVAILABLE FOR SALE (Continued) 
 
The following tables show the Bank’s gross unrealized losses and fair values, aggregated by investment category 
and length of time that the individual securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position, at  
December 31. 
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At December 31, 2024, the Bank had 23 available for sale securities that have been in a gross unrealized loss 
position for less than 12 months with depreciation of 1.4 percent from the Bank’s amortized cost basis. At 
December 31, 2024, the Bank had 120 available for sale securities that have been in a gross unrealized loss 
position for greater than 12 months with depreciation of 7.8 percent from the Bank’s amortized cost basis. The 
gross unrealized loss positions were primarily related to securities issued by U.S. government agencies or U.S. 
government-sponsored enterprises. These securities carry the explicit and/or implicit guarantee of the U.S. 
Government, are widely recognized as “risk free,” and have a long history of zero credit loss. Total gross 
unrealized losses were primarily attributable to changes in interest rates, relative to when the investment 
securities were purchased, and not due to the credit quality of the investment securities. The Bank does not intend 
to sell the investment securities that were in an unrealized loss position, and it is not more likely than not that 
the Bank will be required to sell the investment securities before recovery of their amortized cost basis, which 
may be at maturity. Therefore, as of December 31, 2024, no ACL was required for available for sale securities. 
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3. INVESTMENT SECURITIES AVAILABLE FOR SALE (Continued) 
 
The amortized cost and fair values of debt securities by contractual maturity at December 31, 2024, are shown 
below. Expected maturities will differ from contractual maturities because borrowers may have the right to call 
or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties. 

Amortized Fair
Cost Value

Due in one year or less $ 2,976,343     $ 2,959,326     
Due after one year through five years 49,997,918   47,898,498   
Due after five years through ten years 45,046,087   40,744,617   
Due after ten years 1,415,209     1,273,732     

Total $ 99,435,557   $ 92,876,173   

 
The Bank had proceeds of $16,101,190 from the sale of debt securities during 2024, resulting in gross realized 
losses of $897,987. The Bank did not sell any debt securities during 2023. Investment securities with carrying 
values of $32,678,582 and $64,319,342 were pledged to secure public deposits and for other purposes as required 
by law at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 
 
Equity Securities 
 
The following table presents the net gains and losses on equity investments recognized in earnings during the 
years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the portion of unrealized gains and losses for the periods that 
related to equity investments held at December 31, 2024 and 2023. 
 

2024 2023

Net equity security gains (losses) recognized during the year $ 4,084,669   $ (1,099,320)  
Net gains realized due to sale of equity securities during the year (809,167)     -             

   Net equity security unrealized gains (losses)
          recognized during the year $ 3,275,502   $ (1,099,320)  

Year Ended December 31,
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4. LOANS 
 
Major classifications of loans are summarized as follows:  
 

    2024 2023
Real estate:
     Residential $ 246,719,834 $ 233,393,718 
     Commercial 15,089,587   12,038,353   
     Construction 1,011,050     861,917        
Commercial and industrial 6,477,831     6,562,325     
Consumer 21,648,796   22,207,436   

290,947,098 275,063,749 
Less allowance for credit losses 3,344,344     3,466,464     

   Net loans $ 287,602,754 $ 271,597,285 
 

At December 31, 2024 and 2023, the amounts in the table above included net deferred loan origination costs of 
$268,024 and $246,487, respectively. 
 
The Bank’s primary business activity is with customers located within its local trade area, which is primarily 
McKean County in northwestern Pennsylvania. Although the Bank has a diversified loan portfolio at  
December 31, 2024 and 2023, loans outstanding to individuals and businesses are dependent upon the local 
economic conditions in its immediate trade area. 
 

5. ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES 
 

Management has an established methodology to determine the adequacy of the ACL that assesses the risks and 
losses inherent in the loan portfolio. For purposes of determining the ACL, the Bank has segmented certain loans 
in the portfolio by product type and age of delinquency. Loans are segmented into the following pools: residential 
real estate, commercial real estate, commercial and industrial, and consumer.  
 
Changes in the allowance for credit losses by portfolio segment for the years ended December 31 are as follows: 
 

Residential Commercial Commercial
Real Estate Real Estate and Industrial Consumer Unallocated Total

Allowance for credit losses – loans 
Balance at December 31, 2022 $ 1,708,394   $ 137,130       $ 336,229      $ 1,217,615  $ 107,727     $ 3,507,095   

Provisions (credit) for credit  losses 591,113      (80,621)        (100,453)     51,879       (11,918)      450,000      
Loans charged off (95,732)      (808)             (10,000)       (622,420)    -             (728,960)    
Recoveries of loans previosuly charged off 27,784        14,909         15,993        179,643     -             238,329      

Balance at December 31, 2023  $ 2,231,559    $ 70,610          $ 241,769       $ 826,717      $ 95,809        $ 3,466,464   
Provisions (credit) for credit  losses 241,974      11,891         (94,219)       358,986     (43,632)      475,000      
Loans charged off (223,460)    (1,228)          -              (585,842)    -             (810,530)    
Recoveries of loans previously charged off 21,569        20,459         16,909        154,473     -             213,410      

Balance at December 31, 2024  $ 2,271,642    $ 101,732        $ 164,459       $ 754,334      $ 52,177        $ 3,344,344   

 
The total allowance for credit losses reflects management’s estimate of credit losses inherent in the loan portfolio 
at the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition date. The Bank considers the allowance for credit losses 
adequate to cover credit losses inherent in the credit portfolio at December 31, 2024. The following tables present 
the balance in the allowance for credit losses and the recorded investment in loans by portfolio segment and 
based on whether the loans are collectively or individually evaluated as of December 31, 2024 and 2023. 
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5. ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES (Continued) 
 

Residential Commercial Construction Commercial
Real Estate Real Estate Real Estate and Industrial Consumer Unallocated Total

Allowance for credit losses: 
 Individually evaluated   $ 43,260                  $ -                     $ -                    $ -                     $ 1,856                   $ -                     $ 45,116                    
 Collectively evaluated  2,228,382            101,732            -                   164,459            752,478              52,177              3,299,228               

     Total ending 
        allowance balance $ 2,271,642            $ 101,732            $ -                   $ 164,459            $ 754,334              $ 52,177               $ 3,344,344               

Loans: 
 Individually evaluated   $ 1,257,969             $ 305,242             $ -                    $ 70,351               $ 14,910                 $ 1,648,472               
 Collectively evaluated  245,461,865        14,784,345       1,011,050         6,407,480         21,633,886         289,298,626           

     Total ending 
        loans balance  $ 246,719,834         $ 15,089,587        $ 1,011,050          $ 6,477,831          $ 21,648,796          $ 290,947,098           

Residential Commercial Construction Commercial
Real Estate Real Estate Real Estate and Industrial Consumer Unallocated Total

Allowance for credit losses: 
 Individually evaluated   $ 11,239                  $ -                     $ -                    $ -                     $ 4,137                   $ -                     $ 15,376                    
 Collectively evaluated  2,220,320            70,610              -                   241,769            822,580              95,809              3,451,088               

     Total ending 
        allowance balance $ 2,231,559            $ 70,610              $ -                   $ 241,769            $ 826,717              $ 95,809               $ 3,466,464               

Loans: 
 Individually evaluated   $ 1,298,189             $ 201,403             $ -                    $ 72,787               $ 41,832                 $ 1,614,211               
 Collectively evaluated  232,095,529        11,836,950       861,917            6,489,538         22,165,604         273,449,538           

     Total ending 
        loans balance  $ 233,393,718         $ 12,038,353        $ 861,917             $ 6,562,325          $ 22,207,436          $ 275,063,749           

2024

2023
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5. ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES (Continued) 
 

Residential Commercial Construction Commercial
Real Estate Real Estate Real Estate and Industrial Consumer Unallocated Total

Allowance for credit losses: 
 Individually evaluated   $ 43,260                  $ -                     $ -                    $ -                     $ 1,856                   $ -                     $ 45,116                    
 Collectively evaluated  2,228,382            101,732            -                   164,459            752,478              52,177              3,299,228               

     Total ending 
        allowance balance $ 2,271,642            $ 101,732            $ -                   $ 164,459            $ 754,334              $ 52,177               $ 3,344,344               

Loans: 
 Individually evaluated   $ 1,257,969             $ 305,242             $ -                    $ 70,351               $ 14,910                 $ 1,648,472               
 Collectively evaluated  245,461,865        14,784,345       1,011,050         6,407,480         21,633,886         289,298,626           

     Total ending 
        loans balance  $ 246,719,834         $ 15,089,587        $ 1,011,050          $ 6,477,831          $ 21,648,796          $ 290,947,098           

Residential Commercial Construction Commercial
Real Estate Real Estate Real Estate and Industrial Consumer Unallocated Total

Allowance for credit losses: 
 Individually evaluated   $ 11,239                  $ -                     $ -                    $ -                     $ 4,137                   $ -                     $ 15,376                    
 Collectively evaluated  2,220,320            70,610              -                   241,769            822,580              95,809              3,451,088               

     Total ending 
        allowance balance $ 2,231,559            $ 70,610              $ -                   $ 241,769            $ 826,717              $ 95,809               $ 3,466,464               

Loans: 
 Individually evaluated   $ 1,298,189             $ 201,403             $ -                    $ 72,787               $ 41,832                 $ 1,614,211               
 Collectively evaluated  232,095,529        11,836,950       861,917            6,489,538         22,165,604         273,449,538           

     Total ending 
        loans balance  $ 233,393,718         $ 12,038,353        $ 861,917             $ 6,562,325          $ 22,207,436          $ 275,063,749           

2024

2023
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5. ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES (Continued) 
 
Credit Quality Information  
 
The Bank’s internally assigned grades are as follows: 
 
Pass – loans that are protected by the current net worth and paying capacity of the obligor or by the value of the 
underlying collateral. 
 
Substandard – loans that have a well-defined weakness based on objective evidence and are characterized by the 
distinct possibility that the Bank will sustain some loss if the deficiencies are not corrected. Substandard loans 
typically consist of residential real estate loans contractually past due 90 days or more, and commercial real 
estate, construction real estate, commercial and industrial, and consumer loans contractually past due 60 to 89 
days. 
 
Doubtful – loans classified as doubtful have all the weaknesses inherent in a substandard asset. In addition, these 
weaknesses make collection or liquidation in full highly questionable and improbable, based on existing 
circumstances. Doubtful loans typically consist of commercial real estate, construction real estate, commercial 
and industrial, and consumer loans contractually past due 90 days or more. 
 
Nonperforming loans consist of loans that are on a nonaccrual basis and loans contractually past due 90 days or 
more but are not on nonaccrual status because they are well secured or in the process of collection.  
 
The following tables represent credit exposures by internally assigned grades for the years ended 
December 31, 2024 and 2023. The grading analysis estimates the capability of the borrower to repay the 
contractual obligations of the loan agreements as scheduled or at all. The Bank’s internal credit risk grading 
system is based on experiences with similarly graded loans. 
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5. ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES (Continued) 
 
Credit Quality Information  
 

Revolving Revolving
 Loans  Loans

Amortized Converted
December 31, 2024 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 Prior Cost Basis to Term Total
Residential Real Estate

Risk Rating
Pass $ 45,516,496    $ 43,220,205    $ 35,628,406    $ 32,127,758    $ 18,854,129    $ 68,668,816    $ -             $ -             $ 244,015,810      
Substandard 82,896          107,116        497,780        480,782        254,446        1,281,004      -             -             2,704,024         
Doubtful -               -               -               -               -               -               -             -             -                  

Total $ 45,599,392    $ 43,327,321    $ 36,126,186    $ 32,608,540    $ 19,108,575    $ 69,949,820    $ -             $ -             $ 246,719,834      

Residential Real Estate
Current period gross charge-offs $ 329              $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -               $ 223,131        $ -             $ -             $ 223,460            

Commercial Real Estate
Risk Rating

Pass $ 5,048,070      $ 3,019,482      $ 1,820,866      $ 1,094,356      $ 749,848        $ 2,918,712      $ -             $ -             $ 14,651,334        
Substandard -               -               25,042          100,880        -               288,180        -             -             414,102            
Doubtful -               -               -               -               -               24,151          -             -             24,151              

Total $ 5,048,070      $ 3,019,482      $ 1,845,908      $ 1,195,236      $ 749,848        $ 3,231,043      $ -             $ -             $ 15,089,587        

Commercial Real Estate
Current period gross charge-offs $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -               $ 1,228            $ -             $ -             $ 1,228               

Construction Real Estate -               
Risk Rating

Pass $ 572,232        $ 10,944          $ 21,436          $ 72,248          $ 150,558        $ 183,632        $ -             $ -             $ 1,011,050         
Substandard -               -               -               -               -               -               -             -             -                  
Doubtful -               -               -               -               -               -               -             -             -                  

Total $ 572,232        $ 10,944          $ 21,436          $ 72,248          $ 150,558        $ 183,632        $ -             $ -             $ 1,011,050         

Construction Real Estate
Current period gross charge-offs $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -             $ -             $ -                  

Commercial & Industrial
Risk Rating

Pass $ 2,344,283      $ 2,466,901      $ 856,127        $ 296,233        $ 48,738          $ 372,870        $ -             $ -             $ 6,385,152         
Substandard -               51,660          -               -               -               -               -             -             51,660              
Doubtful -               15,799          -               25,220          -               -               -             -             41,019              

Total $ 2,344,283      $ 2,534,360      $ 856,127        $ 321,453        $ 48,738          $ 372,870        $ -             $ -             $ 6,477,831         

Commercial & Industrial
Current period gross charge-offs $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -             $ -             $ -                  

Consumer
Risk Rating

Pass $ 11,717,600    $ 6,076,463      $ 2,426,785      $ 729,824        $ 189,625        $ 52,505          $ -             $ -             $ 21,192,802        
Substandard 93,583          141,645        56,607          -               9,076            -               -             -             300,911            
Doubtful 43,698          59,869          39,687          340              -               11,489          -             -             155,083            

Total $ 11,854,881    $ 6,277,977      $ 2,523,079      $ 730,164        $ 198,701        $ 63,994          $ -             $ -             $ 21,648,796        

Consumer
Current period gross charge-offs $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -             $ -             $ -                  

Total
Risk Rating

Pass $ 65,198,681    $ 54,793,995    $ 40,753,620    $ 34,320,419    $ 19,992,898    $ 72,196,535    $ -             $ -             $ 287,256,148      
Substandard 176,479        300,421        579,429        581,662        263,522        1,569,184      -             -             3,470,697         
Doubtful 43,698          75,668          39,687          25,560          -               35,640          -             -             220,253            

Total $ 65,418,858    $ 55,170,084    $ 41,372,736    $ 34,927,641    $ 20,256,420    $ 73,801,359    $ -             $ -             $ 290,947,098      

Term Loans Amortized Costs Basis by Origination Year
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5. ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES (Continued) 
 
Credit Quality Information  
 

Revolving Revolving
 Loans  Loans

Amortized Converted
December 31, 2024 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 Prior Cost Basis to Term Total
Residential Real Estate

Risk Rating
Pass $ 45,516,496    $ 43,220,205    $ 35,628,406    $ 32,127,758    $ 18,854,129    $ 68,668,816    $ -             $ -             $ 244,015,810      
Substandard 82,896          107,116        497,780        480,782        254,446        1,281,004      -             -             2,704,024         
Doubtful -               -               -               -               -               -               -             -             -                  

Total $ 45,599,392    $ 43,327,321    $ 36,126,186    $ 32,608,540    $ 19,108,575    $ 69,949,820    $ -             $ -             $ 246,719,834      

Residential Real Estate
Current period gross charge-offs $ 329              $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -               $ 223,131        $ -             $ -             $ 223,460            

Commercial Real Estate
Risk Rating

Pass $ 5,048,070      $ 3,019,482      $ 1,820,866      $ 1,094,356      $ 749,848        $ 2,918,712      $ -             $ -             $ 14,651,334        
Substandard -               -               25,042          100,880        -               288,180        -             -             414,102            
Doubtful -               -               -               -               -               24,151          -             -             24,151              

Total $ 5,048,070      $ 3,019,482      $ 1,845,908      $ 1,195,236      $ 749,848        $ 3,231,043      $ -             $ -             $ 15,089,587        

Commercial Real Estate
Current period gross charge-offs $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -               $ 1,228            $ -             $ -             $ 1,228               

Construction Real Estate -               
Risk Rating

Pass $ 572,232        $ 10,944          $ 21,436          $ 72,248          $ 150,558        $ 183,632        $ -             $ -             $ 1,011,050         
Substandard -               -               -               -               -               -               -             -             -                  
Doubtful -               -               -               -               -               -               -             -             -                  

Total $ 572,232        $ 10,944          $ 21,436          $ 72,248          $ 150,558        $ 183,632        $ -             $ -             $ 1,011,050         

Construction Real Estate
Current period gross charge-offs $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -             $ -             $ -                  

Commercial & Industrial
Risk Rating

Pass $ 2,344,283      $ 2,466,901      $ 856,127        $ 296,233        $ 48,738          $ 372,870        $ -             $ -             $ 6,385,152         
Substandard -               51,660          -               -               -               -               -             -             51,660              
Doubtful -               15,799          -               25,220          -               -               -             -             41,019              

Total $ 2,344,283      $ 2,534,360      $ 856,127        $ 321,453        $ 48,738          $ 372,870        $ -             $ -             $ 6,477,831         

Commercial & Industrial
Current period gross charge-offs $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -             $ -             $ -                  

Consumer
Risk Rating

Pass $ 11,717,600    $ 6,076,463      $ 2,426,785      $ 729,824        $ 189,625        $ 52,505          $ -             $ -             $ 21,192,802        
Substandard 93,583          141,645        56,607          -               9,076            -               -             -             300,911            
Doubtful 43,698          59,869          39,687          340              -               11,489          -             -             155,083            

Total $ 11,854,881    $ 6,277,977      $ 2,523,079      $ 730,164        $ 198,701        $ 63,994          $ -             $ -             $ 21,648,796        

Consumer
Current period gross charge-offs $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -             $ -             $ -                  

Total
Risk Rating

Pass $ 65,198,681    $ 54,793,995    $ 40,753,620    $ 34,320,419    $ 19,992,898    $ 72,196,535    $ -             $ -             $ 287,256,148      
Substandard 176,479        300,421        579,429        581,662        263,522        1,569,184      -             -             3,470,697         
Doubtful 43,698          75,668          39,687          25,560          -               35,640          -             -             220,253            

Total $ 65,418,858    $ 55,170,084    $ 41,372,736    $ 34,927,641    $ 20,256,420    $ 73,801,359    $ -             $ -             $ 290,947,098      

Term Loans Amortized Costs Basis by Origination Year
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5. ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES (Continued) 
 

Credit Quality Information (Continued) 
 

Revolving Revolving
 Loans  Loans

Amortized Converted
December 31, 2023 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 Prior Cost Basis to Term Total
Residential Real Estate

Risk Rating
Pass $ 48,146,630    $ 41,203,055    $ 36,492,616    $ 21,854,558    $ 17,776,693    $ 65,541,732    $ -             $ -             $ 231,015,284      
Substandard 87,865          -               296,481        354,986        378,730        1,260,372      -             -             2,378,434         
Doubtful -               -               -               -               -               -               -             -             -                  

Total $ 48,234,495    $ 41,203,055    $ 36,789,097    $ 22,209,544    $ 18,155,423    $ 66,802,104    $ -             $ -             $ 233,393,718      

Residential Real Estate
Current period gross charge-offs $ 13,251          $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -               $ 82,481          $ -             $ -             $ 95,732              

Commercial Real Estate
Risk Rating

Pass $ 3,444,243      $ 2,117,977      $ 1,410,627      $ 825,409        $ 1,053,592      $ 2,944,428      $ -             $ -             $ 11,796,276        
Substandard -               -               21,064          -               -               86,672          -             -             107,736            
Doubtful -               -               70,064          -               -               64,277          -             -             134,341            

Total $ 3,444,243      $ 2,117,977      $ 1,501,755      $ 825,409        $ 1,053,592      $ 3,095,377      $ -             $ -             $ 12,038,353        

Commercial Real Estate
Current period gross charge-offs $ 808              $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -             $ -             $ 808                  

Construction Real Estate -               
Risk Rating

Pass $ 272,464        $ 71,646          $ 94,917          $ 187,011        $ 95,441          $ 103,503        $ -             $ -             $ 824,982            
Substandard -               -               -               -               -               36,935          -             -             36,935              
Doubtful -               -               -               -               -               -               -             -             -                  

Total $ 272,464        $ 71,646          $ 94,917          $ 187,011        $ 95,441          $ 140,438        $ -             $ -             $ 861,917            

Construction Real Estate
Current period gross charge-offs $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -             $ -             $ -                  

Commercial & Industrial
Risk Rating

Pass $ 3,995,634      $ 1,407,630      $ 627,239        $ 204,271        $ 8,271            $ 284,858        $ -             $ -             $ 6,527,903         
Substandard -               -               -               -               -               -               -             -             -                  
Doubtful -               -               24,769          9,653            -               -               -             -             34,422              

Total $ 3,995,634      $ 1,407,630      $ 652,008        $ 213,924        $ 8,271            $ 284,858        $ -             $ -             $ 6,562,325         

Commercial & Industrial
Current period gross charge-offs $ -               $ -               $ 10,000          $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -             $ -             $ 10,000              

Consumer
Risk Rating

Pass $ 13,485,810    $ 5,553,238      $ 1,904,679      $ 420,014        $ 98,481          $ 35,435          $ -             $ -             $ 21,497,657        
Substandard 118,952        202,912        104,658        54,339          224              10,259          -             -             491,344            
Doubtful 63,265          90,558          50,963          12,587          1,062            -               -             -             218,435            

Total $ 13,668,027    $ 5,846,708      $ 2,060,300      $ 486,940        $ 99,767          $ 45,694          $ -             $ -             $ 22,207,436        

Consumer
Current period gross charge-offs $ 162,309        $ 292,172        $ 117,051        $ 31,005          $ 8,159            $ 11,724          $ -             $ -             $ 622,420            

Total
Risk Rating

Pass $ 69,344,781    $ 50,353,546    $ 40,530,078    $ 23,491,263    $ 19,032,478    $ 68,909,956    $ -             $ -             $ 271,662,102      
Substandard 206,817        202,912        422,203        409,325        378,954        1,394,238      -             -             3,014,449         
Doubtful 63,265          90,558          145,796        22,240          1,062            64,277          -             -             387,198            

Total $ 69,614,863    $ 50,647,016    $ 41,098,077    $ 23,922,828    $ 19,412,494    $ 70,368,471    $ -             $ -             $ 275,063,749      

Term Loans Amortized Costs Basis by Origination Year
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5. ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES (Continued) 
 

Credit Quality Information (Continued) 
 

Revolving Revolving
 Loans  Loans

Amortized Converted
December 31, 2023 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 Prior Cost Basis to Term Total
Residential Real Estate

Risk Rating
Pass $ 48,146,630    $ 41,203,055    $ 36,492,616    $ 21,854,558    $ 17,776,693    $ 65,541,732    $ -             $ -             $ 231,015,284      
Substandard 87,865          -               296,481        354,986        378,730        1,260,372      -             -             2,378,434         
Doubtful -               -               -               -               -               -               -             -             -                  

Total $ 48,234,495    $ 41,203,055    $ 36,789,097    $ 22,209,544    $ 18,155,423    $ 66,802,104    $ -             $ -             $ 233,393,718      

Residential Real Estate
Current period gross charge-offs $ 13,251          $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -               $ 82,481          $ -             $ -             $ 95,732              

Commercial Real Estate
Risk Rating

Pass $ 3,444,243      $ 2,117,977      $ 1,410,627      $ 825,409        $ 1,053,592      $ 2,944,428      $ -             $ -             $ 11,796,276        
Substandard -               -               21,064          -               -               86,672          -             -             107,736            
Doubtful -               -               70,064          -               -               64,277          -             -             134,341            

Total $ 3,444,243      $ 2,117,977      $ 1,501,755      $ 825,409        $ 1,053,592      $ 3,095,377      $ -             $ -             $ 12,038,353        

Commercial Real Estate
Current period gross charge-offs $ 808              $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -             $ -             $ 808                  

Construction Real Estate -               
Risk Rating

Pass $ 272,464        $ 71,646          $ 94,917          $ 187,011        $ 95,441          $ 103,503        $ -             $ -             $ 824,982            
Substandard -               -               -               -               -               36,935          -             -             36,935              
Doubtful -               -               -               -               -               -               -             -             -                  

Total $ 272,464        $ 71,646          $ 94,917          $ 187,011        $ 95,441          $ 140,438        $ -             $ -             $ 861,917            

Construction Real Estate
Current period gross charge-offs $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -             $ -             $ -                  

Commercial & Industrial
Risk Rating

Pass $ 3,995,634      $ 1,407,630      $ 627,239        $ 204,271        $ 8,271            $ 284,858        $ -             $ -             $ 6,527,903         
Substandard -               -               -               -               -               -               -             -             -                  
Doubtful -               -               24,769          9,653            -               -               -             -             34,422              

Total $ 3,995,634      $ 1,407,630      $ 652,008        $ 213,924        $ 8,271            $ 284,858        $ -             $ -             $ 6,562,325         

Commercial & Industrial
Current period gross charge-offs $ -               $ -               $ 10,000          $ -               $ -               $ -               $ -             $ -             $ 10,000              

Consumer
Risk Rating

Pass $ 13,485,810    $ 5,553,238      $ 1,904,679      $ 420,014        $ 98,481          $ 35,435          $ -             $ -             $ 21,497,657        
Substandard 118,952        202,912        104,658        54,339          224              10,259          -             -             491,344            
Doubtful 63,265          90,558          50,963          12,587          1,062            -               -             -             218,435            

Total $ 13,668,027    $ 5,846,708      $ 2,060,300      $ 486,940        $ 99,767          $ 45,694          $ -             $ -             $ 22,207,436        

Consumer
Current period gross charge-offs $ 162,309        $ 292,172        $ 117,051        $ 31,005          $ 8,159            $ 11,724          $ -             $ -             $ 622,420            

Total
Risk Rating

Pass $ 69,344,781    $ 50,353,546    $ 40,530,078    $ 23,491,263    $ 19,032,478    $ 68,909,956    $ -             $ -             $ 271,662,102      
Substandard 206,817        202,912        422,203        409,325        378,954        1,394,238      -             -             3,014,449         
Doubtful 63,265          90,558          145,796        22,240          1,062            64,277          -             -             387,198            

Total $ 69,614,863    $ 50,647,016    $ 41,098,077    $ 23,922,828    $ 19,412,494    $ 70,368,471    $ -             $ -             $ 275,063,749      

Term Loans Amortized Costs Basis by Origination Year
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5. ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES (Continued) 
 

Credit Quality Information (Continued) 
 
Following are tables that include an aging analysis of the recorded investment of past-due loans as of  
December 31, 2024 and 2023. 
 

90 Days
30-59 Days 60-89 Days or Greater Total Past Total

Past Due Past Due Past Due Due Current Loans
Real estate:
   Residential $ 9,538,104    $ 4,004,932  $ 2,704,025  $ 16,247,061  $ 230,472,773  $ 246,719,834  
   Commercial 459,213       414,103     24,151       897,467       14,192,120    15,089,587    
   Construction 35,106          35,965       -              71,071          939,979          1,011,050      
Commercial and industrial 799,207       51,660       51,019       901,886       5,575,945      6,477,831      
Consumer 1,063,114    300,911     155,083     1,519,108    20,129,688    21,648,796    

Total $ 11,894,744  $ 4,807,571  $ 2,934,278  $ 19,636,593  $ 271,310,505  $ 290,947,098  

90 Days
30-59 Days 60-89 Days or Greater Total Past Total

Past Due Past Due Past Due Due Current Loans
Real estate:
   Residential $ 9,081,157    $ 3,787,586  $ 2,378,434  $ 15,247,177  $ 218,146,541  $ 233,393,718  
   Commercial 575,853       107,737     134,340     817,930       11,220,423    12,038,353    
   Construction 50,692          -              36,935       87,627          774,290          861,917          
Commercial and industrial 161,486       -              44,422       205,908       6,356,417      6,562,325      
Consumer 1,098,363    491,345     218,435     1,808,143    20,399,293    22,207,436    

Total $ 10,967,551  $ 4,386,668  $ 2,812,566  $ 18,166,785  $ 256,896,964  $ 275,063,749  

2024

2023

 
Individually Evaluated Loans 
 
The following tables present the amortized cost basis of individually evaluated loans as of December 31, 2024 
and 2023. Changes in the fair value of the collateral for individually evaluated loans are reported as a provision 
for credit losses or a reversal of provision of credit losses in the period of change. 

Business Assets Real Estate
December 31, 2024
Real estate:

Residential -$                 1,257,969$        
Commercial -                   305,242            

Commercial and industrial 70,351              -                   
Consumer 14,910              -                   

Total 85,261$            1,563,211$        

Type of Collateral
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5. ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES (Continued) 
 
Individually Evaluated Loans (Continued) 

Business Assets Real Estate
December 31, 2023
Real estate:

Residential -$                 1,298,190$        
Commercial -                   201,403            
Consumer -                   -                   

Commercial and industrial 72,787              -                   
Consumer -                   41,831              

Total 72,787$            1,541,424$        

Type of Collateral

 
Nonaccrual Loans 
 
Loans are evaluated for nonaccrual status upon 90 days delinquency unless adequately secured by real estate. 
When a loan is placed in nonaccrual status, previously accrued but unpaid interest is deducted from interest 
income. 
 
The following tables present loans that are on nonaccrual status and that are 90 days delinquent and still accruing 
interest by portfolio segment as of December 31, 2024 and 2023: 

                
Loans Past

December 31, Nonaccrual Nonaccrual Total Due Over 90+ Total
2024 with no ACL with ACL Nonaccrual Days Still Accruing Nonperforming

Real estate:
     Residential $ 65,521          $ -               $ 65,521          $ 2,704,025            $ 2,769,546     
     Commercial 339,945        -               339,945        24,151                 364,096        
     Construction 35,965          -               35,965          -                      35,965          
Commercial and industrial 51,019          -               51,019          15,799                 66,818          
Consumer -               -               -               155,083               155,083        

     Total $ 492,450        $ -               $ 492,450        $ 2,899,058            $ 3,391,508     

Loans Past
December 31, Nonaccrual Nonaccrual Total Due Over 90+ Total

2023 with no ACL with ACL Nonaccrual Days Still Accruing Nonperforming
Real estate:
     Residential $ 65,521          $ -               $ 65,521          $ 2,378,434            $ 2,443,955     
     Commercial 277,744        -               277,744        -                      277,744        
     Construction 36,935          -               36,935          -                      36,935          
Commercial and industrial 58,092          -               58,092          -                      58,092          
Consumer -               -               -               218,435               218,435        

     Total $ 438,292        $ -               $ 438,292        $ 2,596,869            $ 3,035,161     
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5. ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES (Continued) 
 
Individually Evaluated Loans (Continued) 

Business Assets Real Estate
December 31, 2023
Real estate:

Residential -$                 1,298,190$        
Commercial -                   201,403            
Consumer -                   -                   

Commercial and industrial 72,787              -                   
Consumer -                   41,831              

Total 72,787$            1,541,424$        

Type of Collateral

 
Nonaccrual Loans 
 
Loans are evaluated for nonaccrual status upon 90 days delinquency unless adequately secured by real estate. 
When a loan is placed in nonaccrual status, previously accrued but unpaid interest is deducted from interest 
income. 
 
The following tables present loans that are on nonaccrual status and that are 90 days delinquent and still accruing 
interest by portfolio segment as of December 31, 2024 and 2023: 

                
Loans Past

December 31, Nonaccrual Nonaccrual Total Due Over 90+ Total
2024 with no ACL with ACL Nonaccrual Days Still Accruing Nonperforming

Real estate:
     Residential $ 65,521          $ -               $ 65,521          $ 2,704,025            $ 2,769,546     
     Commercial 339,945        -               339,945        24,151                 364,096        
     Construction 35,965          -               35,965          -                      35,965          
Commercial and industrial 51,019          -               51,019          15,799                 66,818          
Consumer -               -               -               155,083               155,083        

     Total $ 492,450        $ -               $ 492,450        $ 2,899,058            $ 3,391,508     

Loans Past
December 31, Nonaccrual Nonaccrual Total Due Over 90+ Total

2023 with no ACL with ACL Nonaccrual Days Still Accruing Nonperforming
Real estate:
     Residential $ 65,521          $ -               $ 65,521          $ 2,378,434            $ 2,443,955     
     Commercial 277,744        -               277,744        -                      277,744        
     Construction 36,935          -               36,935          -                      36,935          
Commercial and industrial 58,092          -               58,092          -                      58,092          
Consumer -               -               -               218,435               218,435        

     Total $ 438,292        $ -               $ 438,292        $ 2,596,869            $ 3,035,161     
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5. ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES (Continued) 
 

Modifications to Borrower’s Experiencing Financial Difficulty 
 
Occasionally, the Bank will modify the contractual terms of loans to a borrower experiencing financial 
difficulties as a way to mitigate loss, proactively work with borrowers in financial difficulty, or to comply with 
regulations regarding the treatment of certain bankruptcy filing and discharge situations. Loans are designated 
as modified when, as part of an agreement to modify the original contractual terms of the loan as a result of 
financial difficulties of the borrower, the Bank grants the borrower a concession on the terms that would not 
otherwise be considered. Typically, such concessions may consist of a reduction in interest rate to a below-
market rate, taking into account the credit quality of the note, extension of additional credit based on receipt of 
adequate collateral, or a deferment or reduction of payments (principal or interest) that materially alters the 
Bank’s position or significantly extends the note's maturity date, such that the present value of cash flows to be 
received is materially less than those contractually established at the loan's origination. When principal 
forgiveness is provided, the amount forgiven is charged off against the allowance for credit losses on loans. 
 
There were no loan modifications to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty during the years ended 
December 31, 2024 or 2023. During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, no modified loans defaulted 
within 12 months of restructuring. There were no charge-offs on modified loans during the years ended 
December 31, 2024 or 2023. 
 

6. PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT 
 

Major classifications of premises and equipment are summarized as follows: 
 

   2024 2023
Land and improvements $ 1,496,602    $ 708,544      
Buildings and improvements 8,594,524   5,923,512   
Furniture, fixtures, and equipment 2,959,277   3,052,164   
Right-of-use asset 88,835       100,679      
Construction in process 586,370     3,404,828   

13,725,608 13,189,727 
Less accumulated depreciation 6,649,576   6,859,022   

Total $ 7,076,032    $ 6,330,705   
 

 
Depreciation charged to operations was $335,030 in 2024 and $185,230 in 2023. 
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7. DEPOSITS 
 

Time deposits at December 31, 2024, mature $66,104,068, $4,189,778, and $11,611,243 during 2025, 2026, and 
2027, respectively. 

 
The aggregate of all time deposit accounts of $250,000 or more amounted to $28,321,879 and $18,169,131 at 
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 
 
Maturities on time deposits of $250,000 or more at December 31, 2024, are as follows: 

 
Three months or less $ 14,667,188   
Three to six months 8,267,092     
Six to twelve months -               
Over one year 5,387,599     
      Total $ 28,321,879   

 
 

8. SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS 
 

Federal Home Loan Bank Advances  
 
The Bank has entered into a borrowing agreement with a revolving line-of-credit agreement on April 6, 2018, 
whereby it can borrow up to $169,158,950 from the FHLB. All borrowings from the FHLB are secured by a 
blanket lien on qualified collateral, defined principally as investment securities and mortgage loans that are 
owned by the Bank, free and clear of any liens or encumbrances. At December 31, 2024, the outstanding balance 
was $6,000,000 with a rate of 4.77 percent. The average balance during the year was $12,877,322 with a 
weighted-average rate during the year of 5.59 percent. The maximum month-end balance for the year was 
$35,000,000. The maturity date on the revolving line of credit is January 2, 2025. At December 31, 2023, the 
outstanding balance was $23,000,000 with a rate of 5.72 percent. The average balance during the year was 
$7,364,110 with a weighted-average rate during the year of 5.65 percent. The maximum month-end balance for 
the year was $23,000,000. The maturity date on the revolving line of credit was January 2, 2025. 
 
The Bank also has a federal funds borrowing facility with Atlantic Community Bankers Bank (“ACBB”) in the 
amount of $5,000,000. Borrowings of up to $5,000,000 are available on an unsecured basis for a period of 14 
calendar days. ACBB may request that the facility be fully secured if the Bank extends beyond the 14-day period 
permitted. ACBB reserves the right to discontinue the federal funds borrowing facility at their discretion without 
notice. If no notice is given, the facility will expire on June 30, 2025. The Bank had no outstanding balances on 
the federal funds borrowing facility as of December 31, 2024 or 2023. 
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9. LEASE 
 
The Bank accounts for its leases in accordance with ASC Topic 842, Leases. The Bank has one financing lease. 

2024 2023
Financing lease cost:

Amortization of right-of-use asset $ 11,844          $ 11,844          
Interest expense 2,517            2,781            

Total lease cost $ 14,361          $ 14,625          

December 31,

 
 
The following table presents the weighted-average remaining lease term and discount rate for the lease 
outstanding at December 31, 2024: 

Financing
Weighted-average remaining term (months) 90
Weighted-average discount rate 2.37%  

 
The following table presents the undiscounted cash flows due related to the financing lease as of  
December 31, 2024: 

Undiscounted cash flows due within:
2025 $ 13,800       
2026 13,800       
2027 14,400       
2028 15,000       
2029 15,000       
2030 and thereafter 37,500       

Total undiscounted cash flows 109,500      
Discount on cash flows (9,434)        

Total lease liability $ 100,066      
 

 
10. INCOME TAXES 

 
The provision for income taxes consists of the following: 
 

2024 2023

Current $ 444,266        $ 1,021,573     
Deferred 762,948        (253,989)       

Total provision $ 1,207,214     $ 767,584        
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10. INCOME TAXES (Continued) 
 
The following temporary differences gave rise to the net deferred tax liabilities: 
 

2024 2023
Deferred tax assets:

Allowance for credit losses $ 567,827     $ 589,330        
Impairment of investment securities 108,338     108,338        
Other employee benefits 62,479       97,430          
Net unrealized losses on investment securities 1,377,470   1,557,530     
Other 6,559         5,292           
   Total gross deferred tax assets 2,122,673   2,357,920     

Equity securities fair market value adjustment (4,036,264) (3,392,299)    
Investment securities basis adjustments (1,227,125) (1,183,235)    
Defined pension benefit plan (832,371)    (159,534)       
Premises and equipment (74,335)      (86,695)        
   Total gross deferred tax liabilities (6,170,095) (4,821,763)    

   Net deferred tax liabilities $ (4,047,422) $ (2,463,843)    
 

 
No valuation allowance was established at December 31, 2024 and 2023, in view of the Bank’s ability to  
carry-back to taxes paid in previous years and certain tax strategies, coupled with the anticipated future taxable 
income, as evidenced by the Bank’s earnings potential.  
 
The reconciliation of the federal statutory rate and the Bank’s effective income tax rate is as follows: 
 

% of % of
Pretax Pretax

Amount Income Amount Income
Provision at statutory rate $ 1,426,561     21.0             % $ 959,778        21.0              % 
Effect of tax-free income (95,078)        (1.4)              (106,064)       (2.3)              
Nondeductible interest expense 10,722          0.2               5,782           0.1               
Dividend received deduction (137,322)       (2.0)              (141,379)       (3.1)              
Other, net 2,331           0.0 49,467          1.1               

Actual tax expense 
  and effective rate $ 1,207,214     17.8             % $ 767,584        16.8              % 

20232024
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10. INCOME TAXES (Continued) 
 
GAAP prescribes a recognition threshold and a measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition 
and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. Benefits from tax positions 
should be recognized in the financial statements only when it is more likely than not that the tax position will be 
sustained upon examination by the appropriate taxing authority that would have full knowledge of all relevant 
information. A tax position that meets the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold is measured at the largest 
amount of benefit that is greater than 50 percent likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement. Tax positions 
that previously failed to meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold should be recognized in the first 
subsequent financial reporting period in which that threshold is met. Previously recognized tax positions that no 
longer meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold should be derecognized in the first subsequent 
financial reporting period in which that threshold is no longer met.  
 
There is currently no liability for uncertain tax positions and no known unrecognized tax benefits. The Bank 
recognizes, when applicable, interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in the provision for 
income taxes in the Consolidated Statements of Income. With few exceptions, the Bank is no longer subject to 
U.S. federal, state, or local income tax examinations by tax authorities for years before 2021. 
 

11. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
 
The Bank sponsors a trusted, noncontributory defined benefit pension plan covering substantially all employees 
and officers. The plan calls for benefits to be paid to eligible employees at retirement based primarily upon years 
of service with the Bank and compensation rates near retirement. The Bank’s funding policy is to make annual 
contributions, if needed, based upon the funding formula developed by the plan’s actuary. 
 
The Bank also sponsors a defined post-retirement life insurance plan covering all employees and retirees. The 
plan provides for life insurance upon retirement for life. The benefit is based on a percentage of annual 
compensation immediately preceding retirement, and the benefit is reduced annually by 10 percent of 
compensation until the benefit reaches a minimum of $6,000. 
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11. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued) 
 
Obligations and Funded Status 
 
The following table sets forth the change in the plan assets and the projected benefit obligations at December 31:  
 

2024 2023 2024 2023

Change in benefit obligation: 
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 25,395,057  $ 23,248,293 $ 463,953       $ 453,231      
Service cost 495,808       525,517      14,809         13,935       
Interest cost 1,167,841    1,130,992   21,697         22,093       
Actuarial loss (gain) (1,781,786)   1,555,000   (189,118)      (12,140)      
Benefits paid (1,220,685)   (1,064,745)  (13,826)       (13,166)      
Benefit obligation at end of year 24,056,235  25,395,057 297,515       463,953      

Change in plan assets: 
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 26,154,743  23,046,667 -              -            
Actual return gain on plan assets 2,885,847    3,972,821   -              -            
Employer contribution 200,000       200,000      13,826         13,166       
Benefits paid (1,220,685)   (1,064,745)  (13,826)       (13,166)      
Fair value of plan assets at end of year 28,019,905  26,154,743 -              -            

Funded status $ 3,963,670    $ 759,686      $ (297,515)      $ (463,953)    

Amounts recognized in accumulated 
   other comprehensive income consist of:

Net loss (gain) $ (270,337)      $ 2,617,213   $ (601,521)      $ (438,735)    

Total $ (270,337)      $ 2,617,213   $ (601,521)      $ (438,735)    

Pension Benefits Other Benefits

 
The accumulated benefit obligation for the defined benefit pension plan was $21,705,247 and $22,513,524 at 
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.  
 
Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost 

2024 2023 2024 2023

Service cost $ 495,808      $ 525,517     $ 14,809     $ 13,935     
Interest cost 1,167,841  1,130,992  21,697     22,093     
Expected return on plan assets (1,780,207) (1,575,275) -          -          
Amortization of net loss 124           95,372       (26,332)    (30,164)    

Net periodic (benefit) cost $ (116,434)     $ 176,606     $ 10,174     $ 5,864       

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
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11. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued) 
 
Obligations and Funded Status 
 
The following table sets forth the change in the plan assets and the projected benefit obligations at December 31:  
 

2024 2023 2024 2023

Change in benefit obligation: 
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 25,395,057  $ 23,248,293 $ 463,953       $ 453,231      
Service cost 495,808       525,517      14,809         13,935       
Interest cost 1,167,841    1,130,992   21,697         22,093       
Actuarial loss (gain) (1,781,786)   1,555,000   (189,118)      (12,140)      
Benefits paid (1,220,685)   (1,064,745)  (13,826)       (13,166)      
Benefit obligation at end of year 24,056,235  25,395,057 297,515       463,953      

Change in plan assets: 
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 26,154,743  23,046,667 -              -            
Actual return gain on plan assets 2,885,847    3,972,821   -              -            
Employer contribution 200,000       200,000      13,826         13,166       
Benefits paid (1,220,685)   (1,064,745)  (13,826)       (13,166)      
Fair value of plan assets at end of year 28,019,905  26,154,743 -              -            

Funded status $ 3,963,670    $ 759,686      $ (297,515)      $ (463,953)    

Amounts recognized in accumulated 
   other comprehensive income consist of:

Net loss (gain) $ (270,337)      $ 2,617,213   $ (601,521)      $ (438,735)    

Total $ (270,337)      $ 2,617,213   $ (601,521)      $ (438,735)    

Pension Benefits Other Benefits

 
The accumulated benefit obligation for the defined benefit pension plan was $21,705,247 and $22,513,524 at 
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.  
 
Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost 

2024 2023 2024 2023

Service cost $ 495,808      $ 525,517     $ 14,809     $ 13,935     
Interest cost 1,167,841  1,130,992  21,697     22,093     
Expected return on plan assets (1,780,207) (1,575,275) -          -          
Amortization of net loss 124           95,372       (26,332)    (30,164)    

Net periodic (benefit) cost $ (116,434)     $ 176,606     $ 10,174     $ 5,864       

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
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11. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued) 
 
Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost 
 
The estimated net loss that will be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive loss into the net periodic 
(benefit) cost in 2025 is as follows: 

 Pension Other
 Benefits Benefits

Net loss $ -              $ (35,035)       
Total $ -              $ (35,035)       

 
Assumptions 
 
The weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at December 31 are as follows: 
 

2024 2023 2024 2023

Discount rate 5.25           % 4.75          % 4.75         % 5.00         %
Expected long-term return on plan assets 7.00           7.00          7.00         7.00         
Rate of compensation increase 3.00           4.00          4.00         4.00         

Pension Benefits Other Benefits

 
The weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost for years ended December 31 are 
as follows: 

2024 2023 2024 2023

Discount rate 4.75           % 5.00          % 5.00         % 3.00         %
Expected long-term return on plan assets 7.00           7.00          7.00         7.00         
Rate of compensation increase 4.00           4.00          4.00         3.00         

Pension Benefits Other Benefits

 
The long-term rate of return on plan assets gives consideration to returns currently being earned on plan assets, 
as well as future rates expected to be earned. 
 
Plan Assets 
 
The Bank’s defined benefit pension plan weighted-average asset allocations at December 31 by asset category 
are as follows: 
 

Asset Category 2024 2023

Balanced Funds 100            % 100           %
 

The Plan holds balanced funds that aim for 60 percent investment in stocks and 40 percent in bonds, which 
provides diversification by investing in both growth and income securities.  
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11. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued) 
 
Plan Assets (Continued) 
 
The following tables set forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, the plan’s assets at fair value as of 
December 31, 2024 and 2023: 

Level I Level II Level III Total
Assets:

Vanguard Balanced Index Fund #869  $ 14,810,550   $ -              $ -              $ 14,810,550   
Vanguard Wellington Fund #521 4,188,703     -              -              4,188,703     
Vanguard Star Fund #56 9,020,652     -              -              9,020,652     

    Total assets at fair value $ 28,019,905   $ -              $ -              $ 28,019,905   

Level I Level II Level III Total
Assets:

Vanguard Balanced Index Fund #869  $ 13,476,153   $ -              $ -              $ 13,476,153   
Vanguard Wellington Fund #521 8,835,690     -              -              8,835,690     
Vanguard Star Fund #56 3,842,900     -              -              3,842,900     

    Total assets at fair value $ 26,154,743   $ -              $ -              $ 26,154,743   

December 31, 2024

December 31, 2023

 
Following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for assets measured at fair value. There have 
been no changes in the methodologies used at December 31, 2024. 
 
Mutual Funds 
 
Mutual funds are valued at the net asset value (NAV) of shares held by the plan at year-end. 
 
The method described above may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net realizable 
value or reflective of future fair values. Furthermore, while the plan believes its valuation methods are 
appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the use of different methodologies or assumptions to 
determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could result in a different fair value measurement at the 
reporting date. 
 
Cash Flows 
 
The Bank expects to contribute $100,000 to its defined benefit pension plan in 2025. 
 
The following benefit payments that reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid: 
 

Plan
Benefits

2025 $ 1,502,000        
2026 1,513,000        
2027 1,580,000        
2028 1,558,000        
2029 1,533,000        
Thereafter 7,499,000        

     Total $ 15,185,000      
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12. COMMITMENTS 
 
In the normal course of business, there are outstanding commitments and contingent liabilities, such as 
commitments to extend credit, financial guarantees, and letters of credit, which are not reflected in the 
accompanying consolidated financial statements. The Bank does not anticipate any losses as a result of these 
transactions. These instruments involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit and interest rate risk in excess of 
the amount recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The contract or notional amounts of these instruments 
reflect the extent of involvement the Bank has in the particular classes of financial instruments. 
 
The off-balance-sheet commitments at December 31 comprise the following: 
 

2024 2023

Commitments to extend credit $ 5,281,390     $ 9,565,368     
Standby letters of credit 1,529,283     1,700,008     

Total $ 6,810,673     $ 11,265,376   
 

Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer as long as there is no violation of any 
condition established in the loan agreement. These commitments consist primarily of available commercial lines 
of credit and mortgage loan commitments. The Bank uses the same credit policies in making loan commitments 
and conditional obligations as it does for on-balance-sheet instruments. The Bank evaluates each customer’s 
creditworthiness on a case-by-case basis. The amount of collateral obtained, as deemed necessary, is based upon 
management’s credit evaluation in compliance with the Bank’s lending policy guidelines. Customers use credit 
commitments to ensure funds will be available for working capital purposes and capital expenditures and to 
ensure access to funds at specified terms and conditions. 
 
Standby letters of credit are conditional commitments issued by the Bank to guarantee the performance of a 
customer to a third party. Performance letters of credit represent conditional commitments issued by the Bank 
to guarantee the performance of a customer to a third party. These instruments are issued primarily to support 
bid or performance-related contracts. The coverage period for these instruments is typically a one-year period, 
with an annual renewal option subject to prior approval by management. Fees earned from the issuance of these 
letters are recognized over the coverage period. For secured letters of credit, the collateral is typically Bank 
deposit instruments or customer business assets. 
 

13. REGULATORY RESTRICTIONS 
 
Cash and Due From Banks 
 
Effective March 26, 2020, the Federal Reserve reduced reserve requirements to zero for all depository 
institutions. There were no required federal reserves included in “Cash and due from banks” at December 31, 
2024 and 2023. The required reserves are used to facilitate the implementation of monetary policy by the Federal 
Reserve System. The required reserves are computed by applying prescribed ratios to the classes of average 
deposit balances. These are held in the form of vault cash and a depository amount held with the Federal Reserve 
Bank.  
 
Dividends 
The Pennsylvania Banking Code restricts the availability of additional paid-in capital for dividend purposes. At 
December 31, 2024, additional paid-in capital funds of $7,266,285 were not available for dividends. 
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14. REGULATORY CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS 
 
The Bank is subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered by the federal banking agencies.  
Failure to meet the minimum capital requirements can initiate certain mandatory and possibly additional 
discretionary actions by regulators that, if undertaken, could have a direct material effect on the Bank’s financial 
statements. Under capital adequacy guidelines and the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action, the 
Bank must meet specific capital guidelines that involve quantitative measures of the Bank’s assets, liabilities, 
and certain off-balance sheet items as calculated under regulatory accounting practices. The Bank’s capital 
amounts and classification are also subject to qualitative judgments by the regulators about components, risk-
weightings, and other factors. Management believes, as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, that the Bank meets all 
capital adequacy requirements to which it is subject. 
 
In November 2019, federal bank regulatory agencies finalized a rule that simplifies capital requirements for 
community banks by allowing them to optionally adopt a simple leverage ratio to measure capital adequacy, 
which removes requirements for calculating and reporting risk-based capital ratios for a qualifying community 
bank that has less than $10 billion in total consolidated assets, limited amounts of off-balance-sheet exposures 
and trading assets and liabilities, and a leverage ratio greater than 9 percent. The community bank leverage ratio 
framework was effective on January 1, 2020. The Bank elected to adopt the optional community bank leverage 
ratio framework in the first quarter of 2020. 
 
The leverage ratios of the Bank at December 31, 2024 and 2023, are as follows: 
 

Amount Ratio Amount Ratio
Tier 1 capital
  (to average assets)

Actual $ 91,429,580   21.24           % $ 90,850,773   21.24           %
For capital adequacy purposes 17,220,724   4.00             17,110,882   4.00             
To be well capitalized 21,525,905   5.00             21,388,602   5.00             

2024 2023
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15.  FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 
  

The following disclosures show the hierarchal disclosure framework associated with the level of pricing 
observations utilized in measuring assets and liabilities at fair value. The three broad levels are as follows: 
 
   Level I: Quoted prices are available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities as of the reported 

date. 
 
   Level II: Pricing inputs are other than the quoted prices in active markets, which are either directly or 

indirectly observable as of the reported date. The nature of these assets and liabilities includes 
items for which quoted prices are available but traded less frequently and items that are  
fair-valued using other financial instruments, the parameters of which can be directly observed. 

 
   Level III: Valuations derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs or 

significant value drivers are unobservable. 
 
This hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when available. 
 
The following tables present the assets measured on a recurring basis on the Consolidated Statements of 
Financial Condition at their fair value as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, by level within the fair value hierarchy. 
Financial assets and liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant 
to the fair value measurement. 
 

Level I Level II Level III Total
Investment securities available for sale: 

U.S. government agencies $ -              $ 45,090,031   $ -              $ 45,090,031   
Obligations of states and political
  subdivisions -              16,147,840   -              16,147,840   
Corporate securities -              31,638,302   -              31,638,302   

Equity securities in financial institutions 34,135,815   -              -              34,135,815   

    Total $ 34,135,815   $ 92,876,173   $ -              $ 127,011,988 

Level I Level II Level III Total
Investment securities available for sale: 

U.S. government agencies $ -              $ 64,319,342   $ -              $ 64,319,342   
Obligations of states and political
  subdivisions -              18,709,310   -              18,709,310   
Corporate securities -              35,417,375   -              35,417,375   

Equity securities in financial institutions 31,569,430   -              -              31,569,430   

    Total $ 31,569,430   $ 118,446,027 $ -              $ 150,015,457 

December 31, 2024

December 31, 2023
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15.  FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 
 

The following tables present the assets measured on a nonrecurring basis on the Consolidated Statements of 
Financial Condition at their fair value as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, by level within the fair value hierarchy. 
Individually evaluated loans that are collateral-dependent are written down to fair value. Techniques used to 
value the collateral that secure the impaired loan include quoted market prices for identical assets classified as 
Level I inputs and observable inputs, employed by certified appraisers, and in-house appraisers, for similar assets 
classified as Level II inputs. In cases where valuation techniques included inputs that are unobservable and are 
based on estimates and assumptions developed by management based on the best information available under 
each circumstance, the asset valuation is classified as Level III inputs. 
 
OREO is measured at fair value, less cost to sell at the date of foreclosure, establishing a new cost basis. 
Subsequent to foreclosure, valuations are periodically performed by management and the assets are carried at 
the lower of carrying amount or fair value, less cost to sell.  
 

Level I Level II Level III Total
Collateral-dependent loans $ -              $ -              $ 1,603,356       $ 1,603,356         
Other real estate owned -              -              196,278          196,278            

     Total $ -              $ -              $ 1,799,634       $ 1,799,634         

Level I Level II Level III Total
Collateral-dependent loans $  -   $  -   $ 1,598,834       $ 1,598,834         
Other real estate owned  -    -   204,111          204,111            

     Total $  -   $  -   $ 1,802,945       $ 1,802,945         

December 31, 2024

December 31, 2023
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15.  FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 
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15.  FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 
 

The following tables present additional quantitative information about assets measured at fair value on a 
nonrecurring basis and for which the Bank uses Level III inputs to determine fair value: 
 

Fair Value
Valuation 

Techniques
Unobservable 

Input
Range (Weighted 

Average)

Collateral-dependent loans $ 1,603,356 Appraisal of Appraisal 0% - 10%
collateral (1) adjustments (2) (9.5%)

Other real estate owned $ 196,278    Appraisal of 
collateral (1), (2)

Fair Value
Valuation 

Techniques
Unobservable 

Input
Range (Weighted 

Average)

Collateral-dependent loans $ 1,598,834 Appraisal of Appraisal 0% - 10%
collateral (1) adjustments (2) (9.2%)

Other real estate owned $ 204,111    Appraisal of 
collateral (1), (2)

December 31, 2024

December 31, 2023

 
(1) Fair value is generally determined through appraisals of the underlying collateral, which generally 

include various Level III inputs that are not identifiable. 
(2) Appraisals may be adjusted by management for qualitative factors such as economic conditions and 

estimated liquidation expenses. The range and weighted average of liquidation expenses and other 
appraisal adjustments are presented as a percent of the appraisal.  
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15.  FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 
 

The following tables present additional quantitative information about assets measured at fair value on a 
nonrecurring basis and for which the Bank uses Level III inputs to determine fair value: 
 

Fair Value
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Unobservable 

Input
Range (Weighted 

Average)
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(1) Fair value is generally determined through appraisals of the underlying collateral, which generally 

include various Level III inputs that are not identifiable. 
(2) Appraisals may be adjusted by management for qualitative factors such as economic conditions and 

estimated liquidation expenses. The range and weighted average of liquidation expenses and other 
appraisal adjustments are presented as a percent of the appraisal.  
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16. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 
The following table presents the changes in accumulated other comprehensive income by component net of tax 
for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023:  
 

Unrealized Gains on
Available-for-Sale Unrecognized

Securities (1) Pension Costs (1) Total
Balance as of December 31, 2022 $ (7,981,440)        $ (2,447,735)    $ (10,429,175)   
Other comprehensive income before 
  reclassification 2,122,183          802,061        2,924,244      
Amount reclassified from accumulated other 
  comprehensive loss -                       (75,344)        (75,344)         
Total other comprehensive income 2,122,183          726,717        2,848,900      
Balance as of December 31, 2023 $ (5,859,257)        $ (1,721,018)    $ (7,580,275)     
Other comprehensive income before 
  reclassification (32,047)             2,409,864     2,377,817      
Amount reclassified from accumulated other 
  comprehensive loss 709,410            (98)               709,312         
Total other comprehensive  income 677,363            2,409,766     3,087,129      
Balance as of December 31, 2024 $ (5,181,894)        $ 688,748        $ (4,493,146)     

 
 

(1) All amounts are net of tax. Related income taxes are calculated using an income tax rate of 21 percent. 
 

 
The following tables present significant amounts reclassified out of each component of accumulated other 
comprehensive income for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023: 

Affected Line Item 
in the Consolidated Statement of

Details about accumulated other comprehensive loss: Income 
2024 2023

Unrealized gain (loss) on available for sale securities $ (897,987)       $ -               Losses on sales of debt securities
Tax effect – expense 188,577        -               Income tax expense

Net of tax (709,410)       -               

Net unrecognized pension costs 124              95,372          Other noninterest expense
Tax effect – benefit (26)               (20,028)        Income tax expense

Net of tax 98                75,344          

Total reclassifications from accumulated other 
  comprehensive loss $ (709,312)       $ 75,344          

Amount Reclassified From 
Accumulated Other 

Comprehensive Loss (2)

 
 

(2) Amounts in parenthesis indicate debits. 
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17. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
Management has reviewed events occurring through March 7, 2025, the date the financial statements were 
issued, and no subsequent events occurred requiring accrual or disclosure. 
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